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DECISION
STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arose under the Federal Service Labor-Management Relations Statute
(Statute), 5 U.S.C. §§ 7101-7135 and the rules and regulations of the Federal Labor Relations
Authority (Authority), Part 2423.

On May 10, 2013, the Regional Director of the Chicago Regional Office of the
Federal Labor Relations Authority issued a complaint and notice of hearing in the above case
alleging that the U.S. Department of the Interior, U.S. Geological Survey, Great Lakes
Science Center, Ann Arbor, Michigan (Respondent) violated § 7116(a)(1) and (5) of the
Statute by committing an unfair labor practice (ULP) when it unilaterally reduced the Meal
and Incidental Expenses (M&IE) per diem rate for members of the American Federation of
Government Employees, Local 723, AFL-CIO (Charging Party/Union) who perform
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temporary duty on research vessels on the lower four Great Lakes. The Respondent filed its
Answer to the Complaint on June 4, 2013, denying that it was obligated to give notice and an
opportunity to bargain over its decision to reduce per diems.

A hearing in the matter was conducted on July 30, 2013, in Ann Arbor, Michigan.
All parties were represented and afforded an opportunity to be heard, to introduce evidence,
and to examine witnesses. Both the General Counsel and Respondent filed post-hearlng
briefs which I have fully considered.

Based on the entire record, including my observation of the witnesses and their
demeanor, I find that the Respondent committed an unfair labor practice when it unilaterally
reduced the M&IE per diem rate for bargaining unit members who perform temporary duty
on research vessels on the lower four Great Lakes. In support of this determination, I make
the following findings of fact, conclusions of law, and recommendations..

FINDING OF FACT
The Respondent is an agency within the meaning of § 7103(a)(3) of the Statute.

Employees of Respondent’s Great Lakes Science Center (GLSC) are represented by the.
American Federation of Government Employees, Local 723, AFL-CIO (Union), which is a

- labor organization within the meaning of § 7103(a)(4) of the Statute. GC Ex. 1(b), 1(c).

Approximately ninety-four employees at the GLSC work among seven field stations and a
regional office. Tr. 161. Seventy-four of these employees are bargaining unit members.-
Tr. 16, 101. Between twenty and thirty bargaining unit members travel on vessels on the

Great Lakes. Tr. 112.
/

The Respondent’s mission is to restore, protect, and enhance the natural resources and
habitat of the Great Lakes’ basin ecosystem. Tr. 17. The GLSC uses five vessels, one for
each of the Great Lakes, to conduct research surveys or cruises. Tr. 17-18. During surveys,
each vessel has four to seven people on board, including biologists, biological technicians,
and the vessel’s crew. Tr. 19-20, 120, 135. Research surveys last between one and three
weeks, with each vessel conducting up to ten surveys per year. GC Ex. 19; Tr. 16, 120-21,
142-43, 153.

Prior to 2012, employees conducting surveys on vessels on the Jower four Great
Lakes were given full Government Services Administration (GSA) authorized per diems to
cover meals and incidental expenses. Tr. 122, 130, 145, 147, 154, 211. Employees usually
used their per diems at restaurants located near the ports at which they docked each evening.
Tr. 121, 144, 212. This was common practice since at least the 1980s. Tr. 103. The amount
of per diem provided to employees depended on the specific locality of travel, but was
generally about $46 for assignments within the continental United States (CONUS).
GC Ex. 10; Tr. 36, 122, 147. The exception to this practice was Lake Superior. Tr. 93, 106-
07, 171. There, the government prepared and provided meals free of charge to employees on
surveys. Id.
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On April 26, 2012, the Respondent emailed all GLSC employees and announced that
per diems would be reduced to a fixed $20 “camp rate” for future travel on vessels that had a
kitchen. 'GC Ex. 3 at 1-2; Tr. 22. The email stated that “[s]tarting immediately, we expect all
surveys on the large vessels to institute the camp rate this fiscal year. In addition, any studies
in which all staff are on government-approved travel and are stationed in a government-
funded lodging with a kitchen will also be using this camp rate.” GC Ex. 3.

The camp rate per diem was intended to cover the cost of buying groceries.
GC Ex. 3. Employees were expected to purchase their own groceries and cook their own
meals onboard their vessel. id. A $30 camp rate per diem was also announced for instances
where there was only enough storage space to accommodate breakfast and Iunch items but
not dinner items. GC Ex. 3; Tr. 173, 183, 191. Both rates included an additional $5.00 for

incidental expenses. Tr. 9, 148, 209-10.

As justification for this change, the Respondent cited budgetary concerns, the Federal
Travel Regulation (FTR), and Executive Order (EO) 13589 — Promoting Efficient '
Spending, as its reasons for reducing per diems. GC Ex. 3; Tr. 65, 198, 208, 231. The
Respondent explained that it selected the $20 camp rate after examining the average cost of
groceries purchased by the GLSC survey crew who worked on Lake Superior. GC Ex. 3;

Tr. 199.

When a government employee is eligible for an allowance, either as a per diem or an
actual expense, the agency must pay it. 41 C.F.R. § 301-11.3. The FTR states that
government employees are eligible for a per diem allowance when they perform official
travel away from their official duty station and incur per diem expenses. 41 CFR. § 301-
11.1(a)-(b). Government employees that travel the whole day are allowed 100 percent of the
applicable M&IE rate. 41 C.F.R. § 301-11.101(a). Seventy-five percent of the M&IE rate is
given to qualifying employees on their departure day and/or last day of travel. Jd.

For travel by vessel, the “agency will determine an appropriate M&IE rate within the
applicable maximum rate allowed.” 41 C.F.R. § 301-11.101(b). The agency may prescribe
a reduced per diem rate that is lower than the maximum prescribed when: “(a) [the] agency
can determine in advance that lodging and/or meal costs will be lower than the per diem rate;
“and (b) the lowest authorized per diem rate must be stated in your travel authorization in
advance of your travel.” 41 C.F.R. § 301-11.200. '

The Executive Order cited by the Respondent in its announcement directed agency
heads to “take even more aggressive steps to ensure the Government is a good steward of
taxpayer money.” R. Ex. A; EO 13589. It specifically required that each agency establish a
plan for reducing costs related to travel, technology, printing, and the federal vehicle fleet
“by not less than 20 percent below Fiscal Year 2010 levels, in Fiscal Year 2013.” id.
Agencies had to submit their plans to the Office of Management and Budget by
December 24, 2011. id. The Order encouraged agencies to use alternatives to government
travel, such as teleconferencing, and ordered a review of policies related to personnel
relocations. id. The order did not direct agencies to implement their plan. See id. However,
the Respondent interpreted the order as directing it to implement its plan. Tr. 163-64, 196-

97, 207-08.
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On April 30, 2012, the Union sent the Respondent a response to the April 26 email,
alleging that Respondent violated the Collective Bargaining Agreement (CBA) it had signed
when it contacted all employees before notifying the Union of the change. GC Ex. 4;

Tr. 181. The Union asserted that the M&IE per diem reduction was a change in conditions of
employment that required notice and bargaining. GC Ex. 4. It requested that the Respondent
“cease and desist any implementation of this proposed change in policy and practice until

you have met the notification requirements of the Negotiated Agreement.” GC Ex. 4;

Tr. 183. The letter went on to request that any forthcoming notice include a description of
the change, the scope, an explanation of the Respondent’s implementation plans, and the
proposed date of the change’s implementation. GC Ex. 4; Tr. 25.

The Respondent replied to the Union’s April 30 letter on May 8, 2012. GC Ex. 5.
The Respondent wrote that it did not have to negotiate with the Union over the change
because management had already completed negotiations on per diems and because the
change was consistent with the FTR. id.; Tr. 182. The Respondent further wrote that
management did not have to negotiate because the “covered by doctrine clause excuses
parties from negotiating over a change in conditions of employment on the ground they -
already bargained and reach[ed] agreement on the matter.” GC Ex. 5. The Respondent
wrote that the April 26 email “continues to provide consistent and fair guidance in regards to.
travel across the GLSC for all projects.” GC Ex. 5. Respondent then invited the Union to
discuss “[s]everal good ideas” that were in the email exchange and that the two parties could
“discuss items of mutual concern.” GC Ex. 5 at 2.

On May 14, 2012, the Union wrote to the Respondent and requested to “negotiate the
proposed reduction in Meals and Incidental Per Diem Expenses.” GC Ex. 7. That same day,
the Respondent, by Curtis Hoesing, sent an email to all GLSC employees informing them
that an additional document had to be included in official travel documents when the camp
rate applied. GC Ex. 6. Respondent ended the email writing that “[s]ince this form wasn’t
included in the original guidance send below, implementation of the camp rate for the Great
Lakes Science Center will take effect on May 15, 2012, and apply to all subsequent travel
where camp rates can be utilized.” GC Ex. 6.

The Union sent the Respondent three counterproposals on May 17, 2012, and
requested that the Respondent maintain the pre-reduction status quo per diem and that it
reimburse unit employees for the reduced M&IE per diem. GC Ex. 8; Tr. 30-32, 185. The
- Respondent replied on May 24, 2012, informing the Union that © management is available to
discuss the reduced M&IE policy with the Union at the Union’s convenience.” GC Ex. 9;
Tr. 33-34, 62-63, 83-84, 185-86. However, the Respondent explained that it reduced the
M&IE so that the Agency would be compliant with the FTR and Negotiated Agreement.
GC Ex. 9; Tr. 33, 62. Respondent claimed that a return to the status quo was not possible
because it would violate the FTR and management.could not act contrary to the law.

GC Ex. 9; Tr. 62, 84, 185-86. The Respondent ended its letter by inviting the Union to
“provide its specific suggestions/recommendations for mitigating the adverse impact of this
policy correction on bargaining unit personnel.” GC Ex. 9.
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" On June 5, 2012, the Union repeated its request to negotiate over the change and
asked the Respondent to cease and desist implementing the per diem reduction until
bargaining obligations were met. GC Ex. 11. In a letter dated June 22, 2012, the Respondent
invited the Union again to a meeting and reasserted its previous position.

During a Labor-Management Relations Council meeting on July 10, 2012, the parties
met for the first time to discuss the M&IE per diem reduction. Tr. 38-39. The Respondent
maintained that the reduced per diem was appropriate because management could determine
that the camp rate was “the least expensive reimbursement| ]” and because it was legally -
required. MSJ App. Ex. Q; Tr. 38-39. The Union told the Respondent that storage space on
the Great Lakes vessels was not adequate for the group of employees that participated in each
survey. MSJ App. Ex. Q. There was also confusion as to whether or not the camp rate was a
$25 or $35 per diem. Tr. 39. At the end of the meeting, both parties agreed to reconvene.
Tr. 40. The Respondent was assigned to compute the cost of getting breakfast and lunch on
the vessels while the Union was assigned to determine if its members would accept any
lowered M&IE per diem rate. Id.

Both parties reconvened on September 4, 2012; but neither party altered their
previous position. Tr. 40-41. The next day, on September 5, 2012, the Union sent a letter to
the Respondent proposing a $42.50 per diem rate. GC Ex. 13; Tr. 42. The Respondent
rejected the proposal on September 21, 2012. GC Ex. 14. In its rejection letter, Respondent
explained its position again. Jd. Respondent ended by announcing a modification to the
April 26, 2012, M&IE reduction announcement, writing:

GLSC is hereby establishing a modification to the April 26, 2012 Meal
Reimbursement Policy, where a flat “Camp Rate” of $30/day will be provided
for field work situations where kitchen facilities are available. This amount
more than adequately covers groceries for camp situations, and allows for

- restaurant dinners, and for flexibility among stations/operations. Additional

- Incidental Rates will remain at $5/day US, and $23/day Canada. This

modified Policy will be effective October 1, 2012. We will be sharing this
with staff via subsequent memo.

GCEx. 14 at 2.

In response M&IE per diem rate reduction, the Union filed a ULP charge on

" November 15, 2012.

POSITIONS OF THE PARTIES

General Counsel

The General Counsel (GC) contends that the Respondent violated § 7116(a)(1) and -
(5) of the Statute when it unilaterally reduced the M&IE per diem rate of bargaining unit
members from the full rate of $46 per day ($51 on Lake Ontario) to the $35 per day camp
rate. The GC argues that the Respondent is not required by the FTR to reduce per diem rates.
Rather, the GC argues that the FTR permits the Respondent to use its discretion in
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determining a M&IE per diem and that once established for bargaining unit employees, any
change resulting from the exercise of such discretion requires notice and an opportunity to
bargain over the discretionary change.

The GC asserts that based on past practice, the full per diem rate was a condition of
employment and any change to the rate requires notice and an opportunity to bargain. The
GC notes the testimony of multiple employees that full per diems were paid for years.
Furthermore, the GC argues that the change in the per diem rate was more than de minimis,
citing Nat’l Treasury Employees Union, 66 FLRA 528, 530 (2012). In that case, the
Authority found that changes to conditions of employment that affected an employee’s ‘
earning potential were more than de minimis. The GC notes that in this case unit employees’
per diems were reduced by 24% from the previously established and utilized rate of $46.

The GC also contends that the Respondent’s April 26, 2012, email did not clearly
announce a reduction to the M&IE rate. The GC asserts that the April 26, 2012, email was
unclear on the timing, scope, amount, and nature of the proposed change in rates. According
to the GC, the camp rate went into effect on May 15, 2012. The GC cites Respondent’s
May 14, 2012, email as evidence of that start date. “[IJmplementation of the camp rate for
the Great Lakes Science Center will take effect on May 15, 2012, and apply to all subsequent
travel where camp rates can be utilized.” GC Ex. 6.

Finally, the GC submits that the Union’s proposals were negotiable and did not
involve a management right under § 7106 of the Statute. The GC argues that there is little
evidence to support the conclusion that the full M&IE per diem rate was a significant cost to
the Respondent. Therefore, the GC argues that determining per diems was not an exclusive
managerial right. The GC cites Nat’l Fed'n of Fed. Employees, Fed. Dist. 1, Local 1998,

- IAMAW, 66 FLRA 124, 125 (2011) to show that a proposal which increases an agency’s

costs does not necessarily affect management’s right to determine its budget.

As a remedy, the GC seeks status quo ante relief. The GC argues that under the
factors set forth in Fed. Corr. Inst., 8 FLRA 604 (1982) (FCI), status quo ante is appropriate.
According to the GC, no notice was given of the plan to reduce per diems, the Union
requested bargaining, the Respondent willingly failed to bargain, unit employees were
adversely affected, and it would not be difficult to reinstall full per diems. The GC also
seeks back pay, with interest, for the amounts by which per diems were reduced for unit
employees affected by the reduction. The GC also requests that a cease-and-desist order be
issued, as well as a notice to employees, signed by the Director of the GLSC. The GC
specifically requests that the notice be both physically posted and sent electronically to all
bargaining unit members through the Respondent’s email system.

Respondent

As a preliminary matter, the Respondent claims that the allegations in the complaint
are barred by § 7118(a)(4)(A) of the Statute. The Statute states that “no complaint shall be
issued based on any alleged unfair labor practice which occurred more than 6 months before
the filing of the charge with the Authority.” The Respondent asserts that because it
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implemented the M&IE per diem rate deduction on April 26, 2012, and the Union did not file
its ULP charges until November 15, 2012, the filing was beyond the six month threshold,
making it untimely.

The Respondent asserts that the Union received actual notice of the alleged unfair

-labor practice on April 26, 2012. Contrary to the Union’s claims, the Respondent holds that

the April 26 announcement described the scope of the per diem reduction, specified the new
reduced per diem rates, and identified the timing of the change when it wrote: “[s]tarting
immediately, we expect all surveys on the large vessels to institute the camp rate this fiscal
year.” GC Ex. 3 at 2. The Respondent goes on to argue that even if the Union did not
understand when the changes would be implemented, it was properly notified that per diems
were going to be reduced. Furthermore, the change was implemented immediately, and
information on it was available to the Union.

. The Respondent also argues that it acted in compliance with the provision of the CBA
requiring that per diems be determined pursuant to the FTR. Consequently, the Respondent
asserts that there was no requirement to bargain because there was no material change to any
condition of employment. The Respondent contends that there was-no past practice of '
paying full per diem. Rather, the past practice was to issue per diems in conformity with the
FTR, which the Respondent claims it maintained.

The Respondent argues that it had no obligation to bargain because it acted within its _
discretion to determine its budget and because the change was covered by the CBA provision

“that per diem determinations would be made pursuant to the FTR. The Respondent explains

that because of budgetary concerns and target reduction requirements, it believed that a
reduced per diem rate was required by the FTR to control budget costs. The Respondent
asserts that it indicated willingness to discuss impact and implementation, but the Union
never raised impact and implementation issues over which the Respondent was willing to

bargain.

The Respondent also argues that the FTR gives the agency complete discretion over
per diem rates. Therefore, the Respondent argues it did not have to bargain with the Union
over those rates. The Respondent claims that the previous per diem rate system was illegal
because it did not minimize expenses. As such, the Respondent claims that the FTR required
that the agency reduce its per diem rates in order for it to be compliant with the law.

As for a remedy, the Respondent argues that status quo ante is inappropriate. The
Respondent asserts that a status quo ante remedy is not appropriate under the FCI factors.
According to the Respondent, a status quo ante remedy would disrupt agency operations
because it would “undermine the efforts to control the travel budget” which would lead to
reduced travel and could result in furloughs or a reduction in the number of employees.

R. Br. at 32. The Respondent also asserts that unit employees did not suffer losses and cited
the GLSC Director’s testimony that no employee incurred actual travel expenses that were
not reimbursed. The Respondent warns that a status quo ante remedy would be illegal,
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arguing that it would violate the FTR by having the Agency issue reimbursements that would
be greater than actual expenses. Finally, the Respondent argues that per diems are not
compensation under the Back Pay Act, and contending that back pay would be to unduly
enrich unit employees. '

~ ANALYSIS AND CONCLUSIONS
The Charge Was Filed Within Six Months

- The Respondent argues that the Union filed its ULP charge more than six months
after the action upon which the charge is based occurred. Accordingly, the Respondent
argues that the Authority is jurisdictionally barred from deciding this case under the Statute.
As evidence, the Respondent cites its April 26, 2012, letter to employees as the point in time
that per diem rates were reduced to the camp rate. However, I find that argument without
merit and conclude that the Union’s charge was timely.

The Statute mandates that “no complaint shall be issued based on any alleged unfair
labor practice which occurred more than 6 months before the filing of the charge with the
Authority.” 5 U.S.C. § 7118(a)(4)(A). On April 26, when the Respondent first announced a.
proposed reduction in per diem, it did not clearly state when the reduction would occur.

GC Ex. 3. The Respondent wrote: “[s]tarting immediately, we expect all surveys on the
large vessels to institute the camp rate this fiscal year.” id. at 2. The Union responded to the
announcement, specifically requesting that any response from management contain “[t]he
proposed implementation date.” GC Ex. 4. When the Respondent replied, it did not include
an implementation date. GC Ex. 5. Instead, the Respondent suggested that it meet with the
Union to discuss “items of mutual concern[,]” implying that there was flexibility on when the
change would be implemented. GC Ex. 5 at 2. :

On May 14, 2012, the Respondent, via Curtis Hoesing wrote: “implementation of the
camp rate for the Great Lakes Science Center will take effect on May 15, 2012, and apply to
all subsequent travel where camp rates can be utilized.” GC Ex. 6. This letter marked the
first time that the Respondent stated a date certain when the reduction in per diem would
occur. Thus; the actual date of the change’s implementation was May 15, 2012, and the

Union filed the ULP charge over the unilateral change on November 15, 2012, thus, it was
not more than 6 months later. GC Ex. 1(a). Because the Union filed its charge within 6
months of the date the Respondent effectuated the change, I find that the charge was filed
within the time period required by the Statute and the complaint was properly issued.

Paying Full Per Diem Was a Condition of Employment Established by Past Practice

The Authority has recognized that employment practices can establish conditions of
employment. See U.S. Dep't of the Air Force, U.S. Air Force Academy Colo., 65 FLRA 756,
758 (2011) (4ir Force Academy) (finding that the respondent had violated the Statute when it
unilaterally ended the past practice of providing taxis for employees to travel to the union
representative). The Authority has established a two part rule to find the existence of a past
practice: (1) there must be a showing that the practice has been consistently exercised over a
significant period of time; and (2) the practice was followed by both parties or the practice
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was followed by one party and not challenged by the other. See U.S. Patent & Trademark
Office, 57 FLRA 185, 191 (2001) (Patent). “Essential factors in finding that a past practice
exists are that the practice must be known to management, responsible management must
knowingly acquiesce in the practice, and the practice must continue for a significant period
of time.” U.S. DHS, Border & Transp. Directorate, Bureau of Customs & Border Prot.,
59 FLRA 910, 914 (2004). A period of “several years” suffices for a significant period of
time. Air Force Academy, 65 FLRA at 758.

“The Authority has consistently held that insofar as an agency has discretion
regarding a matter affecting conditions of employment it is obligated under the Statute to
exercise that discretion through negotiation unless precluded by regulatory or statutory
provisions.” Nat’l Treasury Employees Union, 21 FLRA 6, 10-11 (1986) (NTEU). Per diem
payments and proposals related thereto concern conditions of employment. id. at 10. In
NTEU, the Authority determined that a proposal to pay per diem to unit employees on
official time concerned conditions of employment and was within the duty to bargain.

id. at 8-10.

Union proposals that do not directly interfere with management’s rights are
negotiable. See AFGE, Local 1923, 44 FLRA 1405, 1405-10 (1992) (reviewing the
negotiability of union proposals for an affirmative employment program). Management
rights include the right to determine the budget of the agency. 5 U.S.C. § 7106(a)(1). For an
agency to successfully argue that a union bargaining proposal interferes with the agency’s
authority to determine its own budget, it must show that the proposal would “prescribe an
amount to be allocated in the Agency’s budget for programs or operations.” NTEU,

21 FLRA at 12. This is consistent with the Authority’s prior holding that a union proposal or
provision impermissibly interferes with management’s right to determine its budget when it
proscribes a certain amount of funds for a program, or the agency makes a substantial
showing that it would significantly increase costs that are not offset by compensating
benefits. AFGE, AFL-CIO, 2 FLRA 604, 607-08 (1980).

If a union proposal prescribes an amount to be allocated, the agency is not obligated
to negotiate. NTEU, 21 FLRA at 12. In NTEU, the agency argued that the union’s proposal
to pay per diem while on official time interfered with its right to determine its budget.

id. at 7. However, the Authority noted that the union proposal neither added a specific line
item to the agency budget, nor prescribed a specific amount of money to programs or
operations. id. at 13. The Authority then found that the proposal did not interfere with
management’s budget authority given that “[n]o specific information or estimates of the
financial impact of the proposal have been presented. Based on this record, the Agency’s
poorly supported assertion cannot provide a ground for concluding that there is a substantial
demonstration that the proposal would result in a significant and unavoidable increase in
costs.” id. Because the proposal did not violate management’s budget authority, it did not
violate law or government-wide regulation and was thus within the duty to bargain. id.
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When employees travel by shlp, agencies have discretion over the appropriate M&IE
rate provided to them so long as it is within the applicable maximum allowable rate.
41 CF.R. § 301-11.101. However, an agency may provide a reduced per diem only when
the agency can determine in advance that lodging and/or meal costs will be lower than the
established per diem rate and the lower per diem rate is disclosed in the travel authorization
in advance of the travel. 41 C.F.R. § 301-11.200.

The FTR explicitly recognizes that employees traveling by ship will receive a per
diem. See 41 C.F.R. § 301-11.101, and it establishes the maximum allowable per diem, but
does not establish what amount of per diem an agency must pay. 41 CF.R. § 301-11.6.
Where meals are provided to employees by the government without charge, an appropriate
deduction may be made from the authorized per diem rate. 41 C.F.R. § 301-11.18(a).
However, agencies have the discretion, in accordance with administrative procedures
prescribed by the agency, to allow employees to claim the full M&IE allowance if they are
“unable to take part in a government-furnished meal due to the conduct of official business.”

41 C.F.R. § 301-11.18(c).

Furthermore, an agency’s ability to determine the amount of per diem bargaining unit
employees will receive is subject to negotiation. See Nat’l Treasury Employees Union,
42 FLRA 964, 972 (1991). “[N]othing in the authorities that govern the payment of such
expenses, i.e., the Travel Expense Act and the Federal Travel Regulations, requires that this
determination be made only by management and only on a case-by-case basis.” id. Per
diem proposals are negotiable. See also U.S. Dep’t of Agric. Food & Nutrition Serv.,
Midwest Region, 30 FLRA 477, 480 (1987) (rejecting the agency’s argument that per diem
bargaining proposals were non-negotiable and contrary to the Travel Expense Act and the
FTRS); Office of the Gen. Counsel, NLRB, 22 FLRA 259, 262 (1986).

In this case, the Respondent did not reduce per diems in accordance with the
requirements set forth in the FTR. The FTR authorizes agencies to reduce the rate of per
diem when the agency can determine in advance that actual costs will be lower and that
lower rate is made known to the employee in the travel authorization. 41 C.F.R. § 301-

- 11.200. However, in this case, when the Respondent reduced the per diem by implementing
a camp rate, it did not consider all costs related to having employees cook their own meals.
Tr. 111-12, 200. It did not do an analysis of food cost in the areas where it would be
obtained. Tr. 191. Nor did it consider the cost of fuel for generating electricity to run the
kitchen equipment, Tr. 200, or the cost of paying overtime to employees who cook meals,
which is what it does for employees who conduct surveys on Lake Superior. Tr. 93.
Therefore, I find that the Respondent did not demonstrate that the full and total cost of meals
prepared under the camp rate was less than the full per diem rate, as 1equ1red by the FTR to
justify a reduction in per diems.

The Respondent argues that it implemented its per diem change to lower costs which
it contends was required by law and the FTR. Tr. 84, 232. However, other components
within the Department of the Interior, like the Fish and Wildlife Service, as well as other .
federal agencies like the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, which is part of
the Department of Commerce, are subject to the same executive order and the FTR, and yet
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they provide full per diems to their employees who perform field work aboard vessels plying
the waters of the Great Lakes as well as other nautical climes. Tr. 202-03. Given the
dubious nature of the Respondent’s justification for reducing per diem, I am far from
convinced that it is the only organization within the federal government capable of properly

interpreting the FTR and that the entities paying full per diems, one of whom is within the
same Department of Interior, are acting illegally and in contravention of the FTR.

Furthermore, the Respondent was not mandated by the FTR to reduce per diems
because contrary to its contention, it does not provide meals. See 41 C.F.R..§ 301-11.18. In
essence, the Respondent equates the existence of a small kitchen on survey vessels with
providing meals to unit employees. GC Ex. 3, 6. This equation is fuzzy logic at its finest
and a culinary sleight of hand worthy of Houdini. The Respondent’s own history of
providing meals to employees during surveys conducted on Lake Superior exposes the
chicanery of the Respondent’s equation. On the vessel Kiyi, the government provides meals
to the employees and crew. Tr. 171. Employees on the Kiyi do not prepare or cook their
own meals; their meals are prepared by two crew members who are paid overtime to prepare
everyone’s meals. Tr. 93, 171. The government secures and pays for all the groceries hauled
aboard the Kiyi and employees do not-shop or otherwise provide their own groceries.

Tr. 106-07. Everything needed to provide sustenance to employees on the Kiyi, ranging from.
purchasing, transporting, storing, preparing, cooking, and final clean-up is done for them by
other employees who are paid for their culinary services. Tr. 93, 106-07, 171. This is not the
arrangement the Respondent provided on vessels surveying the lower four Great Lakes for
which per diem was reduced to the camp rate. Unit employees on these vessels received a
per diem which presumably covered the cost of groceries but nothing else. Tr. 107. There
were no cooks on these vessels, so unit employees cooked their own meals with the groceries
they secured, transported, stored, and prepped. Tr. 106. The Respondent did nothing, nor

did it compensate the employees for the additional time spent engaging in such activities. id. -
As I conclude that the Respondent does not provide unit employees participating in survey
cruises of the lower four Great Lakes with meals, its argument that it was obligated under the
FTR to reduce the per diems provided to bargaining unit employees is as unsubstantial as the
sustenance it provided.

Based on its past practice, the Respondent established that providing a full M&IE
per diem was a condition of employment for unit employees while conducting surveys on the
lower four Great Lakes. Full per diems were provided to employees since the 1980s, Tr. 103,
and the Respondent continued to provide unit employees with full M&IE per diems after it
signed a CBA with the Union in February of 2009. GC Ex. 2; Tr. 20, 21. Because a full
per diem was provided for several years prior to the 2012 change, I find that the practice was
consistently exercised over a significant period of time. See Patent, 57 FLRA at 191;
Air Force Academy, 65 FLRA at 758. Throughout this extended period, the Respondent was
fully aware that full per diems were paid to bargaining unit employees as it was the entity
responsible for paying them. Tr. 21, 22, 47. Because there is no evidence that the
Respondent challenged the practice prior to 2012, I find that the Respondent established the
payment of full per diems as a condition of employment.
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The Respondent did not have the unilateral right to determine the amount of per diem
bargaining unit members received and the FTR did not mandate a lower per diem or the
imposition of a camp rate. 41 C.F.R. § 301-11.101. While the FTR gives agencies
discretion in determining the amount of per diem that employees receive when traveling by
vessel, id., that discretion does not give the agency the ability to act unilaterally. The
Authority has consistently held that when an agency has discretion regarding a matter
affecting conditions of employment, it is obligated under the Statute to exercise that
discretion through negotiation unless so doing is precluded by regulatory or statutory
provisions. See NTEU, 21 FLRA at 10-11. As indicated above, the payment of full
per diems was a condition of employment for these bargaining unit employees established
over a period of years, and the Union requested to negotiate over the reduction of per diems
on multiple occasions when the Respondent indicated that practice was going to be changed.
However, the Respondent failed to maintain the status quo and refused to negotiate over the
planned reduction. GC Ex. 7, 8, 9, 11, 12 &14. Therefore, I find that the Respondent
violated the Statute when it unilaterally reduced the Meals and Incidental Expenses per diem
rate of bargalmng unit employees

Furthermore, the change from full per diem to a lesser camp rate was more than
de minimis. Before the Respondent implemented the camp rate, unit employees usually ate
" their meals at restaurants where their vessel came to port. Tr. 131, 144. After the
Respondent changed the per diem to a camp rate, unit employees were expected to purchase
their own groceries and prepare their own meals on the vessel despite it being docked at a
port where off ship dining establishments were available. GC Ex. 3. However, the kitchens
on the vessels were not designed to accommodate an entire crew with each member cooking
for himself. Tr. 144. The kitchens were cramped, with a small stove, a small microwave, a
small refrigerator, and a small sink. Tr. 134. Also, there was not enough storage space for
employees to properly store enough groceries for all the meals that would be required during
the course of a survey. Tr. 144, 202. When both vessel crew and science crew attempted to
cook at the same time, “it’s not a good situation.” Tr. 144. The Respondent acknowledged
this problem and eventually implemented a $30 per diem rate. Tr. 202.

This change in per diem rate and the method by which employees secured their meals
was greater than de minimis under the DHHS standard. See Dep 't of HHS, SSA, 24 FLRA
403, 407-08 (1986). The Respondent completely changed how unit employees secured their
meals during survey cruises, every unit employee on the survey was affected by the change,
and the adverse effect was certainly foreseeable. Unit employees had to spend time shopping
for groceries, transporting the groceries to the vessel, storing the food, prepping and cooking
their own meals, and then cleaning the kitchen. GC Ex. 3; Tr. 169, 200. While the
Respondent may have a legitimate interest in redueing travel costs, that interest cannot be
placed upon the backs of its bargaining unit employees without notice and an opportunity to
bargain, and providing a kitchen is not the same thing as providing a meal. For these
reasons, I find that the change from providing full M&IE per diem to providing a lesser camp -
rate and requiring employees to prepare their own meals was greater than de minimis.
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REMEDY

The Authority examines requests for a status quo ante (SQA) remedy by balancing
the nature and circumstances of a violation with the degree of operational disruption that the
remedy would have on the agency. FCI, 8 FLRA at 606. The Authority examines:

(1) whether, and when, notice was given to the union by the agency
concerning the action or change decided upon; (2) whether, and when, the
union requested bargaining on the procedures to be observed by the agency in
implementing such action or change and/or concerning appropriate
arrangements for employees adversely affected by such action or change;

(3) the willfulness of the agency’s conduct in failing to discharge its
bargaining obligations under the Statute; (4) the nature and extent of the
impact experienced by adversely affected employees; and (5) whether, and to
what degree, a status quo ante remedy would disrupt or impair the efficiency
and effectiveness of the agency’s operations.

Under those factors, an order that the parties return to the status quo is appropriate in this
case. Although given notice, the Union was not provided an opportunity to bargain over the
change and the notice advising the Union of the date the change would be implemented was
issued one day prior to implementation. Furthermore, the Respondent willingly and
repeatedly refused to bargain over the change and every employee assigned to work on
survey ships went from getting the full per diems to purchase meals at dining establishments
to getting a reduced per diem and having to provide their own meals, that were cooked in a
cramped and inadequate kitchen on board the vessel. Finally, imposition of an SQA remedy
would not affect the Respondent’s efficiency or operational effectiveness. While there was
testimony regarding tight budgets and the need to reduce travel costs, there was no evidence
demonstrating that the payment of full per diems rather than the reduced camp rate would
have any impact upon the Respondent’s efficiency or operational effectiveness. In fact, the
best evidence was that it would not do so, as there was uncontroverted testimony that other
components within the Department of Interior that conduct research aboard vessels on the
Great Lakes continued to pay full per diems in the same budgetary environment. Tr. 202-03.
Given the Respondent’s failure to establish the financial impact and to demonstrate how that
amount of money would erode its efficiency and operational effectiveness given the size of”
its annual budget, I can only conclude that the adverse impact was not substantial enough to

make it worth proving.

Although a status quo ante remedy is appropriate, back pay in the form of
reimbursement for lost per diem is not. Reimbursements for lost per diem are not covered by
the Back Pay Act. 5 U.S.C. § 5596(b)(1)(A). The Office of Personnel Management
Regulations implementing the Back Pay Act, defines pay, allowances, and differentials as
“pay, leave, and other monetary employment benefits to which an employee is entitled by
statute or regulation and which are payable by the employing agency to an employee during
periods of Federal employment.” 5 C.F.R. § 550.803. “[T]he Authority has determined that
an award of ‘pay’ includes restoration of regular pay, annual leave, and pay for missed
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overtime opportunities, but does not extend to reimbursement payments such as per diem.”
(citation omitted). U.S. Dep’t of Agric., Rural Dev., Wash., D.C., 60 FLRA 527, 529 (2004),
Dep’t of Def. Dependents Schs., 54 FLRA 259, 265 (1998). In the case at hand, the per
diems were reimbursements and fall outside the scope of the Back Pay Act.

CONCLUSION

I find that the Respondent violated § 7116 (a)(1) and (5) of the Statute when it
unilaterally reduced without an opportunity to bargain, the Meals and Incidental Expenses
per diem rate of bargaining unit employees who perform temporary duty on research vessels
on the lower four Great Lakes. Therefore, I recommend that the Authority adopt the

following Order:
ORDER

Pursuant to § 2423.41(c) of the Rules and Regulations of the Authority and § 7118 of
the Federal Service Labor-Management Relations Statute (Statute), the U.S. Department of
the Interior, U.S. Geological Survey, Great Lakes Science Center, Ann Arbor, Michigan,
shall: :

1. Cease and desist from:

(a) Changing the conditions of employment for bargaining unit employees without
first providing the American Federation of Government Employees, Local 723, AFL-CIO
(AFGE/Union) an opportunity to bargain over the Meals and Incidental Expenses (M&IE)

per diem rates of bargaining unit employees.

(b) In any like or related manner interfering with, restraining, or coercing
bargaining unit employees in the exercise of their rights assured by the Statute.

2. Take the following afﬁrmatlve actions in order to effectuate the purposes and
policies of the Statute:

(a) Rescind the May 15, 2012, reduction in M&IE per diem rate.

(b) Upon request, bargain with the Union over any proposed decision to reduce
M&IE per diem rate of bargaining unit employees in the future. '

(c) Post at its facilities where bargaining unit employees represented by the Union
are located, copies of the attached Notice on forms to be furnished by the Federal labor
Relations Authority. Upon receipt of such forms, they shall be signed by the Director,

Great Lakes Science Center, Ann Arbor, Michigan, and shall be posted and maintained for
60 consecutive days thereafter, in conspicuous places, including all bulletin boards and other
places where notices to employees are customarily posted. Reasonable steps shall be taken
to ensure that such Notices are not altered, defaced, or covered by any other material.
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(d) Seﬁd, by electronic mail, the Notice to all AFGE Local 723 bargaining unit
employees in the Respondent’s Great Lakes Science Center. This Notice will be sent on the
same day that the Notice is physically posted.

v(e) Pursuant to § 2423.41(e) of the Rules and Regulations of the Authority, notify the
Regional Director, Chicago Region, Federal Labor Relations Authority, in writing, within 30
days from the date of this Order, as to what steps have been taken to comply.

Issued, Washington, D.C., September 8, 2014

ﬂ/ att, ﬂﬂ ol

CHARTES R. CENTER
Chief Administrative Law Judge




NOTICE TO ALL EMPLOYEES
POSTED BY ORDER OF
THE FEDERAL LABOR RELATIONS AUTHORITY

The Federal Labor Relations Authority has found that U.S. Department of the Interior,
U.S. Geological Survey, Great Lakes Science Center, Ann Arbor, Michigan, violated the
Federal Service Labor-Management Relations Statute (Statute), and has ordered us to post
and abide by this Notice.

WE HEREBY NOTIFY OUR EMPLOYEES THAT:

WE WILL NOT change bargaining unit employees’ conditions of employment without first
providing the American Federation of Government Employees, Local 723, AFL-CIO (Union)
an opportunity to bargain over a proposed decision to reduce the Meals and Incidental

'Expenses (M&IE) per diem rate.

WE WILL NOT, in any like or related manner, interfere with, restrain, or coerce bargaining
unit employees in the exercise of their rights assured by the Statute.

WE WILL rescind the May 15, 2012, reduction in bargaining unit employees’ M&IE per
diem rates.

WE WILL to the extent required by the Statute, provide the Union with notice and an
opportunity to bargain over any future proposed decision to change bargaining unit
employees” M&IE per diem rates.

(Agency/Activity)

Dated: By:

(Signature) (Title)

This Notice must remain posted for 60 consecutive days from the date of postlng and must
not be altered, defaced, or covered by any other material.

If employees have any questions concerning this Notice or compliance with its provisions,
they may communicate directly with the Regional Director, Chicago Regional Office,
Federal Labor Relations Authority, and whose address is: 224 S. Michigan Avenue,

Suite 445, Chicago, IL 60604, and whose telephone number is: (312) 886-3465.




